

NKS-420 ISBN 978-87-7893-509-0

Added Value of uncertainty Estimates of SOurce term and Meteorology (AVESOME)

Jens Havskov Sørensen¹ (co-ordinator) Fredrik Schönfeldt² Robert Sigg² Jan Pehrsson³ Bent Lauritzen³ Jerzy Bartnicki⁴ Heiko Klein⁴ Steen Cordt Hoe⁵ Jonas Lindgren⁶

¹Research and Development Department, Danish Meteorological Institute (DMI)
²Swedish Defence Research Agency (FOI)
³PDC-ARGOS
⁴Center for Nuclear Technologies, Technical University of Denmark (DTU Nutech)
⁵Norwegian Meteorological Institute (MET Norway)
⁶Nuclear Division, Danish Emergency Management Agency (DEMA)
⁷Swedish Radiation Safety Authority (SSM)



Abstract

In the early phase of a nuclear accident with possible off-site consequences, e.g. resulting from core melt and breach of containment, accurate prediction of the atmospheric dispersion of radionuclides is of utmost importance. However, two large sources of uncertainty exist: one associated with the meteorological data employed, and one related to the source term, i.e. the amounts of radionuclides released and the temporal evolution of the release.

In the former NKS-B projects MUD, FAUNA, and MESO, the implications of meteorological uncertainties for nuclear emergency preparedness and management were studied, and means for operational real-time assessment of the uncertainties in a nuclear DSS were developed and demonstrated.

In AVESOME, a methodology has been developed for quantitative estimation of the variability of atmospheric dispersion modelling resulting from both sources of uncertainty. With modern supercomputing facilities available e.g. at national meteorological services, the proposed methodology is well suited for real-time assessments and implementation in decision support systems.

The methodology adapts well to the RASTEP system, which provides a set of possible source terms and associated probabilities. In the near future, source terms derived within the EU project FASTNET will also become available, describing different release scenarios.

By employing automatic communication between the DSS and the HPC facility, the methodology developed is applied to selected release scenarios and meteorological situations. Results are presented by the improved graphical user interface adhering to recommendations of the NKS Workshop on the Use of Meteorological Uncertainty Estimates for Decision Making during a Nuclear Emergency in 2015. Based on a given request for dispersion calculation at the HPC facility, the DSS user will be able to either use the probabilistic presentation of all members of the source-term ensemble, or to use the individual source term members.

Key words

nuclear emergency preparedness, atmospheric dispersion model, source term uncertainty, meteorological uncertainty, ensemble prediction

NKS-420 ISBN 978-87-7893-509-0 Electronic report, February 2019 NKS Secretariat P.O. Box 49 DK - 4000 Roskilde, Denmark Phone +45 4677 4041 www.nks.org e-mail nks@nks.org

Added Value of uncertainty Estimates of SOurce term and Meteorology (AVESOME) – final report

Final Report of the NKS-B AVESOME activity (Contract: AFT/B(18)6)

Jens Havskov Sørensen¹ (co-ordinator)

Fredrik Schönfeldt² Robert Sigg² Jan Pehrsson³ Bent Lauritzen⁴ Jerzy Bartnicki⁵ Heiko Klein⁵ Steen Cordt Hoe⁶ Jonas Lindgren⁷

¹Research and Development Department, Danish Meteorological Institute (DMI)
²Swedish Defence Research Agency (FOI)
³PDC-ARGOS
⁴Center for Nuclear Technologies, Technical University of Denmark (DTU Nutech)
⁵Norwegian Meteorological Institute (MET Norway)
⁶Nuclear Division, Danish Emergency Management Agency (DEMA)

⁷Swedish Radiation Safety Authority (SSM)

Table of contents

Introduction	5
Source Term Uncertainty	6
Probabilistic Safety Assessment	6
Severe Accident Computer Codes	7
RASTEP	8
FASTNET	9
CONFIDENCE	9
Meteorological Ensemble Prediction	11
Effective Atmospheric Dispersion Model Calculation	13
Integrated dispersion model calculation	13
Temporally binned continuous release	13
Effective and efficient combination of weather and source ensembles	15
LHS	15
Parameters and distributions	16
Results	17
Conclusions and future work	19
Atmospheric Dispersion Modelling	21
Combination of an NWP Model Ensemble and a Source-Term Ensemble	21
Ensemble Statistics for Atmospheric Dispersion Modelling	21
The Danish Emergency Response Model of the Atmosphere (DERMA)	22
Case Studies	23
Meteorological Cases	23
20 May 2011	23
27 April 2016	25
Source Term Ensembles Employed	27
Mitigation source-term ensemble	29
No-mitigation source-term ensemble	29
Containment source-term	29
By-pass source-term ensemble	29
Ambivalent source-term ensemble	29
Atmospheric Dispersion Cases	30
Brokdorf NPP for the 20 May 2011 meteorological case	30
Ringhals NPP for the 27 April 2016 meteorological case	40
Selection of percentile values	50
ARGOS and Ensemble Results	52

Source terms in ARGOS	52
LR request from ARGOS	54
Monitoring (for Version file)	55
LR Selection Tree	56
Interface Changes between ARGOS and Long Range Model (DERMA)	62
Request-interface	62
Result-interface	62
Protocol for Interactive Communication	63
Conclusions and Outlook	65
References	66

Introduction

In the early phase of a nuclear accident with possible off-site consequences, e.g. resulting from core melt and breach of containment, accurate prediction of the atmospheric dispersion of radionuclides is of utmost importance. However, two large sources of uncertainty exist: one associated with the meteorological data employed, and one related to the source term, i.e. the amounts of radionuclides released and the temporal evolution of the release.

In the NKS-B projects MUD (Meteorological Uncertainty of atmospheric Dispersion model results), cf. Sørensen *et al.* (2014), FAUNA (Fukushima Accident: UNcertainty of Atmospheric dispersion modelling), cf. Sørensen *et al.* (2016), and MESO (MEteorological uncertainty of ShOrt-range dispersion, cf. Sørensen *et al.* (2017), the implications of meteorological uncertainties for nuclear emergency preparedness and management have been studied, and means for operational real-time assessment of the uncertainties in a decision-support system (DSS) have been developed and demonstrated.

In the NKS-B project AVESOME (Added Value of uncertainty Estimates of SOurce term and MEteorology), a methodology is developed for quantitative estimation of the variability of atmospheric dispersion modelling resulting from both sources of uncertainty. With modern supercomputing facilities available e.g. at national meteorological services, the proposed methodology is well suited for real-time assessments and implementation in decision support systems (DSSs).

Previously, due to lack of computer power, such methods could not be applied to operational real-time decision support. However, with modern supercomputing facilities, available e.g. at national meteorological services, the proposed methodology is feasible for real-time use, thereby adding value to decision support.

The AVESOME methodology adapts well to the RApid Source TErm Prediction (RASTEP) system (Knochenhauer *et al.*, 2013), which provides a set of possible source terms and associated probabilities. In the near future, source terms derived within the EU project FASTNET will also become available, describing different release scenarios.

The methods developed in AVESOME allow for efficient real-time calculations by making use of scaling properties in the equations governing the release and the atmospheric dispersion of radionuclides.

By employing automatic communication between the nuclear DSS and the HPC facility, the methodology developed is applied to selected release scenarios and meteorological situations. Results are presented by the improved graphical user interface (GUI) adhering to recommendations of the NKS Workshop on the Use of Meteorological Uncertainty Estimates for Decision Making during a Nuclear Emergency in 2015. Based on a given request for dispersion calculation at the HPC facility, the DSS user will be able to either use the probabilistic presentation of all members of the source-term ensemble, or to use the individual source term members.

Source Term Uncertainty

The source term consists of information about the nuclides included in a release from a nuclear power plant (NPP) as well as the activity released per nuclide. The source term also describes the height of the release, the duration of the release phases, and the thermal effect (heat content) of the release.

The Convention on Early Notification of a Nuclear Accident (IAEA, 1986) established a notification system for nuclear accidents which have the potential for international transboundary release that could be of radiological safety significance for another State. It requires States to report the accident's time, location, radiation releases, and other data essential for assessing the situation. Notification is to be made to affected States directly or through the International Atomic Energy Agency (IAEA), and to the IAEA itself. Accordingly, it is a national obligation of the State hosting an accidental nuclear power plant to estimate the source term applying to the accident.

If the plant status is well described, e.g. which valves are open and which are not etc., a given source-term model will produce only a single result. However, it is well known that for the same plant status another source-term model may give a result which differs by up to an order of magnitude. Additionally, certain source term models are known to become numerically unstable after a couple of days of integration into the future. Thus, the obligation to provide the source term is by no means trivial and should be accompanied by an estimate of the inherent uncertainties, i.e. to provide an ensemble of source terms linked to possible release scenarios.

The radionuclides are released in the form of gasses or aerosols of different shapes and sizes; the latter being largely unknown. However, off-site consequences are dominated by the smallest fraction of particle sizes for which gravitational settling can be neglected, and thus the current lack of knowledge on size distributions is not expected to be of any major consequence. The methodology developed in AVESOME can, however, be applied also in case that aerosol size distributions are available.

In AVESOME, we have primarily studied serious accidents with off-site effects such as reactor core-melt scenarios and fuel pond accidents. In the early stage of a serious accident, only the larger plant status parameters can be expected to be available, e.g. the filter efficiency or whether the filter is connected with the reactor or not. As soon as knowledge on plant status is obtained, e.g. on whether the filter is connected or not, the source-term ensemble will be reduced.

Probabilistic Safety Assessment

PSA (probabilistic safety assessment) is a method used to estimate the risk for an incident or accident at a nuclear power plant, i.e. the probability of various scenarios and associated consequences. PSA provides insights into the strengths and weaknesses of the design and operation of a nuclear power plant.

PSA level 1 estimates the total sum of accident frequencies which leads to core damage, also known as the core damage frequency (CDF). The estimation is based on a framework in which initiating events, e.g. system failures such as LOCA (Loss Of Coolant Accident) or transients, internal or external hazards, creating disturbances in the plant are followed by function events where safety functions may fail, eventually escalating to core damage. An

event and fault tree analysis describes various plant responses including automatic and manual action of safety functions as well as mitigation systems success or failure.

In PSA level 2, the accident sequences resulting in core damage are further analysed to estimate the potential release magnitude and associated frequencies. The core damage sequences from PSA level 1 are here grouped into plant damage states where each plant damage state is an entry point to the containment event tree. Focus in the analysis is on key phenomena that affect the accident progression and containment response with regard to structures and systems. End states with similar accident progression are combined into a set of release categories. When these end states are characterized, the source term analysis can be performed. Each release category, representing a number of accident sequences, is thus represented by one source term analysis, presumably a conservative analysis to enclose the different scenarios within the category.

Finally, PSA level 3 estimates the consequences to the public health and the environment combined with their respective frequency.

In this study, the source-term ensemble employed consists of a set of release category probabilities and weights derived from a generic BWR (Boiling Water Reactor) PSA level 2 study, and the corresponding set of source terms.

Severe Accident Computer Codes

The source-term analysis can be made with an integral severe accident computer code such as MAAP (Modular Accident Analysis Program), cf. (EPRI, 2006), or MELCOR (Methods for Estimation of Leakages and Consequences Of Releases), cf. Sandia National Laboratories (2001), both developed in US, and ASTEC (Accident Source Term Evaluation Code), developed in Europe (by IRSN and GRS), cf. Chatelard *et al.* (2016).

In MAAP, the thermal hydraulics are modelled for a predetermined set of nodes for the primary circuit (and secondary circuit) systems. Processes and phenomena are described with simplified parametric models which make the code run fast. MELCOR and ASTEC use modules for the thermal hydraulic in different systems and to model different phenomena. The modules are then coupled to solve the thermodynamics. MELCOR is using both mechanistic ("physical") and parametric models where the parametric models are used in case of high phenomenological uncertainties.

The fission-product release models within the different codes include the transport within the fuel, further transport and deposition within the systems and in the containment. The transport depends on the chemistry and speciation, and aerosol physics among other factors. The models are, in general, empirical based on experiments such as PHEBUS (IRSN, 2012). A transport model outside the containment is not always included and instead a direct release to the atmosphere from an aperture in the containment is assumed. For a PSA level 2, this implies that the calculation methodology for containment bypass cases often will differ in principle from that of containment failure cases.

It is important to stress that different versions of a code might have very different approaches/models to different phenomena if new "knowledge" is implemented in a later code version. Also, the difference between different computer codes can vary between different accident sequences and, in particular, if the research of a particular phenomenon in the sequence is less studied. The resulting uncertainties in the source term constituents for a specific accident sequence will affect release time, release duration and release magnitude. Therefore, it is very difficult to estimate the level of uncertainties for a source-term ensemble, since it depends on the code, the models included and the specific accident sequence. The uncertainties consist of both epistemic and aleatory uncertainties, where the epistemic uncertainties per definition would require the exploration of further experimental data to be reduced.

RASTEP

As concluded in the section concerning source term uncertainties, we need to build up knowledge on how source terms may look like and the related uncertainties. An interesting study funded by NKS, RASTEP (RApid Source TErm Prediction), cf. Knochenhauer *et al.* (2013), describes a method which partly touches this area. The main focus is on estimating the state of the Nuclear Power Plant (NPP) when an accident occurs. To do this, an approach called Bayesian Belief Network (BBN) is applied. It uses input (observables) from the NPP to take a probabilistic view on which accident states are possible. For the BBN method to work properly, one needs to reproduce a good network structure and to estimate the probabilities. The output from the BBN algorithm is a list of all states with associated probability numbers given the observables either from sensor readings or manual input.

To produce a source term, the BBN algorithm has to be linked to deterministic reactor state models such as Modular Accident Analysis Program (MAAP), cf. (EPRI, 2006), or Methods for estimation of Leakages and Consequences of Releases (MELCOR), cf. Sandia National Laboratories (2001). Either one can use an approach with pre-calculated fields (produced by MAAP or MELCOR) corresponding to the states, or an iterative solution can be designed. Such a solution is proposed in the study using Modular Accident Response System (MARS), cf. Alonso *et al.* (2005), which is related to MAAP. The iterative solution may run five simultaneous simulations for different accident scenarios and thus produce five source terms. However, these source terms are deterministic, and still we do not have any information on the uncertainties for the particular reactor states.

An interesting question is therefore how large the source term uncertainties are for one reactor state compared to the differences between the scenarios. A comparison between MAAP and MELCOR has been carried out for the same scenario, and it is concluded that the differences are quite large. This indicates that the source term uncertainties for one individual state could be as large as the differences between different scenarios. The conclusion is thus that RASTEP is a good starting point but we have to add information on uncertainties for every individual state. These uncertainties can be studied by MAAP or MELCOR by identifying uncertain parameters and perform a study using a sampling approach. One method suited for this is Latin Hypercube Sampling (LHS), see Rao (2005), which significantly reduces the number of runs compared to a random sampling scheme. The combination of such a study and RASTEP will produce a complete probabilistic view on the source terms both concerning the reactor state and corresponding uncertainties within a reactor state.

FASTNET

The FASTNET project is a four-year European project funded by the Euratom Research and Training Programme 2014–2018.

FASTNET is relevant for the AVESOME NKS project because of the source-term database being developed inside FASTNET.

The objectives of FASTNET are:

- to set up a severe-accident scenarios database
- to qualify a common graduated response methodology that integrates several tools and methods to:
 - evaluate the source term
 - o ensure both diagnosis and prognosis of severe accident progression
 - make the connection between the FASTNET tools and other systems that use sourceterm definition for further assessments in order to implement in any emergency centres the proposed solution for the management of emergency in all the operating nuclear power plant concepts, Pressurized Water Reactors (PWR) of Gen II and III; Boiling Water Reactors (BWR) of Gen II; VVER 440 and 1000; CANDU; and a concept of spent fuel pool facilities in Europe. The International Radiological Information Exchange (IRIX) format will be used for data exchange between FASTNET tools and these systems used for consequence evaluations.

The partners of the project include the Nordic authorities DEMA (Danish Emergency Management Agency), NRPA (Norwegian Radiation Protection Authority), SSM (Swedish Radiation Safety Authority) and STUK (Finnish Radiation and Nuclear Safety Authority). In total 20 partners take part in the project with IAEA as observer. The pre-calculated database developed in FASTNET is directly relevant for AVESOME possibly in connection with the RASTEP tool, which is very interesting for future use.

CONFIDENCE

The EU CONCERT Confidence project performs research focused on uncertainties in the area of emergency management and long term rehabilitation. It concentrates on the early and transition phases of an emergency, but considers also longer-term decisions made during these phases. The work programme of CONFIDENCE is designed to understand, reduce and cope with the uncertainty of meteorological and radiological data and their further propagation in decision-support systems. It goes further than the AVESOME project by also considering social, ethical and communication aspects related to uncertainties. The Confidence project is divided into six work packages addressing uncertainties from the pre-and early release phase (WP1), cancer risk and dosimetry (WP2), radioecological models (WP3), transition phase (WP4), social and ethical issues (WP5) and communication (WP6).

WP1, dealing with uncertainties in the pre- and early release phase, is closest related to the work in the AVESOME project. As with AVESOME, the results of the previous NKS projects MUD and FAUNA are building blocks of this work package. Meteorological uncertainties will be addressed by several meteorological ensemble model systems, namely the ECMWF Ensemble Data, (GLAMEPS), the Met Office Global and Regional Ensemble Prediction System (MOGREPS-G), the Norwegian/Swedish MetCoOp Ensemble Prediction System (MEPS), the Hungarian Arome EPS and the Danish Meteorological Institute

Ensemble Prediction System (DMI-EPS). The uncertainties will be analyzed in three different scenarios: Fukushima Dai-ichi in Japan, Borssele in the Netherlands and emissions from floating nuclear power plants or nuclear icebreakers close to Norway.

Based on (Rao, 2005), the CONFIDENCE project has published guidelines for ranking uncertainties of atmospheric dispersion modelling (Mathieu *et al.*, 2018). In addition, a report addressing the uncertainties related to the source term is written (Bedwell *et al.*, 2018). Preliminary plans for the Norwegian scenario for addressing source-term uncertainties are based on the WASH-1400 reports scenarios with 50% of emissions will happen during the first hour, and just modifying the peak of the timely distribution of release of particles during the first few hours. The inventory of this source-term will be based on NKS-139 (Reistad, 2006).

A future subtask will follow the results from the NKS-MESO project (Sørensen *et al.*, 2017) to reduce the uncertainties of the atmospheric dispersion models by direct use of meteorological measurements, e.g. precipitation intensity as obtained from weather radar systems.

Meteorological Ensemble Prediction

The DMI meteorological Ensemble Prediction System (DMI-EPS), which is based on the HIRLAM numerical weather prediction (NWP) model (Undén *et al.*, 2002; HIRLAM, 2009), involves 25 ensemble members. The horizontal resolution is 0.05°, corresponding to approximately 5.5 km, and vertically the model has 40 layers from the surface up to 10 hPa (approximately 30 km above the sea surface). The ensemble HIRLAM model is nested into ECMWF's global model. For the geographical coverage, see Figure 1.



Figure 1 Geographic domain covered by DMI-EPS.

Meteorological forecast uncertainties arise from uncertainties in the initial and lateral boundary conditions and from model short-comings, particularly short-comings associated with parameterization of physical processes that take place on spatial scales that cannot be represented explicitly in the model. The initial condition uncertainty is assumed to be comparable to the forecast error for short (6–18 h) forecasts, and so perturbations proportional to the forecast error are added to or subtracted from the initial conditions (Hou *et al.*, 2001). This approach is easily implemented, it can be generalized to also account for uncertainties in the lateral boundary conditions, it does not require input from a global ensemble prediction system, and the results are satisfactory compared to other, more advanced methods (García-Moya *et al.*, 2011). The main drawback is that the number of perturbations is limited. Therefore, the initial condition perturbations are combined with model perturbations: 13 ensemble members use the STRACO cloud scheme (Sass, 2002), while the remaining 12 members use the Kain-Fritsch/Rasch-Kristjansson scheme (Kain, 2004; Rasch and Kristjansson, 1998), and in 13 members the total contribution from all physical parameterizations is perturbed stochastically (Feddersen, 2009) in order to represent the

otherwise unaccounted for uncertainty in the parameterizations, similarly to what has been done for ECMWF's ensemble prediction system for many years (Buizza *et al.*, 1999).

The DMI-EPS has been running operationally from April 2011 till June 2017. For short-range forecasts, i.e. up to two days in advance, the main uncertainties are those associated with clouds and convection, and so the main application of DMI-EPS has been to provide forecasters at DMI with a tool to predict the risk of severe precipitation events (rain or snow) 12 to 36 hours in advance. After an upgrade in 2016, the perturbations were modified in order to increase the spread in wind speed which should reflect uncertainty in wind predictions better.

A new meteorological ensemble prediction model system, COMEPS (Yang *et al.*, 2017), which is based on the Harmonie non-hydrostatic NWP model (Bengtsson *et al.*, 2017), became operational in June 2017 and has substituted the DMI-EPS.

Effective Atmospheric Dispersion Model Calculation

In order to represent the uncertainty of the source term, potentially a large number of atmospheric dispersion calculations are needed. Therefore, effective calculation is required; especially if using Monte Carlo methods involving numerous different source term descriptions. In AVESOME, three different approaches have been developed.

Integrated dispersion model calculation

Since all of the dispersion calculations for a given source-term ensemble are going to use the same meteorological input data, it is advantageous, both with respect to input/output (I/O) and to calculation efficiency, to have the dispersion model treating all of the source terms in one overall calculation. The fact that the tracers, the released radionuclides, are non-interacting should further be utilized. This approach has been implemented in the Danish Emergency Response Model of the Atmosphere (DERMA) (Sørensen *et al.*, 2007; Sørensen, 1998).

Temporally binned continuous release

For dispersion modelling in support of nuclear emergency preparedness and management, one may utilize the fact that the tracers, the released radioactivity, are non-interacting. Therefore, it can be an advantage, in the modelling process involving both the dispersion model and the DSS in use, to split up the release in separate, smaller chunks, a temporally binned release. Additionally, one may utilize the scaling properties of concentration with respect to release rates, and carry out modelling for unit rates only. One will, however, have to treat all radio-nuclides since they decay and deposit differently. This procedure allows the user of the DSS to provide very easily concentration patterns corresponding to any source term within the period covered.

In the following, the source term is denoted by $s_i(t)$, e.g. in units of Bq/s, where *i* denotes the radionuclide and *t* the time. The concentration at location r and time *t* can be written

$$c_i(\boldsymbol{r},t) = \int_{t_0}^t d_i(s_i(t'),t') \,\mathrm{d}t'$$

involving time integration from the start of the release t_0 until time t of the model-dependent dispersion function d_i incorporating the effects of the meteorological 3-D parameters in the period.

With a piece-wise constant source term, $s_i(t)$, cf. Figure 2,



Figure 2 Piece-wise constant source term, $s_i(t)$.

we can employ the scaling properties of concentration with respect to the release rates and write

$$c_i(\boldsymbol{r},t) = \sum_{j=1}^T s_{ij} D_{ij}(\boldsymbol{r},t)$$

where the 'building blocks' for unit releases of a radionuclide *i* in the time interval $[t_i, t_{i+1}]$,

$$D_{ij}(\mathbf{r},t) = \begin{cases} \int_{t_0}^t d_i(1,t') \, \mathrm{d}t' \, \mathrm{for} \, t > t_j \\ 0 \, \mathrm{otherwise,} \end{cases}$$

are calculated by the meteorological centre, cf. Figure 3.



Figure 3 Building blocks $D_{ij}(r, t)$ for unit releases of the radionuclide *i* in the time interval $[t_j, t_{j+1}]$.

If the time intervals j = 1, ..., T are well known, then the uncertainty of the source term is expressed by the values of the constants s_{ij} . Thus, it is straightforward to calculate the statistical properties of the concentrations c_i as linear combinations of the set of building blocks, $D_{ij}(\mathbf{r}, t)$.

It can be suggested that the DSS provides the start of the release, a small constant Δt , e.g. $\Delta t = 1$ h, and an extensive list of possibly released radionuclides to the meteorological centre, which in turn calculates the corresponding building blocks. In fact, by calculating linear combinations of the building blocks, this method allows the user of the DSS to provide very easily concentration patterns corresponding to any source term within the period covered, e.g. 48 hours.

Uncertainties on the heat release, and thereby on the initial plume rise, adds another dimension to the calculations. However, for dispersion models adhering to the assumption of complete mixing in the mixing layer, this is of no consequence as long as the heat is so small that the plume initially stays inside the atmospheric boundary layer (ABL). Otherwise, the proposed method will have to be extended with a discretization of the range of effective release heights thereby adding to the computer resources required.

Effective and efficient combination of weather and source ensembles

A method using post-processing for adding source properties after the dispersion calculations has been developed (Schönfeldt, 2017). This method is suitable for all dispersion models where you can keep track of the particles or puffs. Basically, you need to store information when the particles/puffs are born and the position of these in order to add source properties and radioactive decay in a post-processing mode.

If not having the possibility to apply post-processing the number runs grow fast depending on how large the weather and source ensembles are. For example, having 25 weather ensemble members and 19 source terms generate 475 dispersion runs for every radionuclide or family of radionuclides. With an increasing number of weather and source term ensemble members this number rapidly grows. Therefore, we propose a way of using a sampling method to effectively and efficiently combine weather and source ensembles similar to earlier work done on the local scale (Sigg *et al.*, 2018). The sampling method that we have used is Latin Hypercube Sampling (LHS) and the idea is to use this approach to generate a set of dispersion calculations. Here, all the weather ensemble members are included as well as combinations with other important uncertainties in dispersion model parameters, such as release height, dry deposition velocity and scavenging coefficients.

LHS

The basic approach behind LHS is to divide the probability distributions into a number of bins, an arbitrary value set by the user. This is called stratification. Every stratification can only be used once when combining the parameters included in the uncertainty analysis which means that the number of runs will be equal to the stratification value; see McKay *et al.* (1979).

Given the stratification value the idea is to compute large enough parameter combinations to cover the most important uncertainty features, see Figure 4. After that the dispersion model is run for every combination computed by LHS. The advantage of LHS is that the number of dispersion calculations is significantly reduced compared to Monte-Carlo methods (MCM). In LHS, we typically talk about 50–100 runs while in MCM the number are millions. The selection of the stratification number is dependent on the specific global uncertainty analysis, and typically, with an increased number of parameters with uncertainties the more stratifications you need. Many times you have to study the specific problem in order to understand the proper stratification number.





Both LHS and MCM require knowledge of the parameter uncertainties and their probability distributions. These distributions depend on the nature of the physical problem and it is outside the scope of this project to study parameter uncertainties and their distributions. Thus, we are dependent on such knowledge from other studies and one good review paper is Mathieu and Korsakissok (2018). The most used distributions within dispersion modelling are normal, uniform and log-normal. As already mentioned we have chosen the following parameters to illustrate the method: weather ensembles, release height, dry deposition velocity and scavenging coefficients. Here follows a discussion of each parameter and the chosen distribution.

Parameters and distributions

In this study, we work with the European Centre for Medium-range Weather Forecasts (ECMWF) output, and the number of weather ensembles is 50. This means that we have 50 realizations of the weather development for every forecast and it is assumed that every ensemble member is equally probable. The probability distribution of the weather ensembles can therefore be set to uniform. It is also suitable to choose the stratification number to 50 for the whole LHS approach based on that we have this amount of weather ensembles. The weather development (wind speed and direction) is the most important factor to understand where the radioactive cloud is transported.

Another important factor is the release height and it is known from earlier accidents (Fukushima, Chernobyl) that this varies during the release. One estimation is that it should be distributed uniformly and for the Fukushima case the boundaries was set to 0–400 m (Mathieu and Korsakissok, 2018). This is probably dependent on the accident and the type of power plant.

During dispersion there are two important processes to bring down the radioactive material to the ground, dry and wet deposition. Therefore we have included these parameters as well. There are different opinions whether these are distributed log-normally or normally. For simplistic reasons we have chosen normal distributions for these parameters. The dry deposition is dependent on the so-called dry deposition velocity and for the scavenging coefficient we produce a multiplication factor since this coefficient is computed within the dispersion model.

For an overview of the chosen distributions and related values, see Table 1. This is based on Mathieu and Korsakissok (2018).

Parameter	Average (or min)	Standard deviation (or max)
Weather ensemble	1	50
Release height	100 m	300 m
Dry deposition velocity	8x10 ⁻³ ms ⁻¹	2x10 ⁻³ ms ⁻¹
Scavenging coefficient mult.	1	0.3

 Table 1 Input to LHS for generation of parameter combinations.

So the first step is to produce a list with every parameter combination that we would like to run, in total 50 combinations. The second step is to perform unit dispersion calculations with input from this this list and the third step is to post-process the result by adding the radioactive properties from the source ensemble. With source ensemble of size 50 a MCM approach renders in $50^5 = 312,500,000$ traditional dispersion calculations compared to 50 using the LHS approach. From a computer efficiency perspective we are apparently saving quite a lot by this approach. Especially since the post-processing method is fast and takes very little computer power.

Results

Figure 5 shows an example of the deposited field of Cs-137 using the FOI model PELLO for a weather situation in July 2018 (Ensemble 1) using the generic BWR source-term ensemble defined in Section "Source Term Ensembles Employed". The artificial source is located at the Brokdorf NPP. Four source terms out of 19 are chosen to illustrate the different behaviour using different source terms (added after the dispersion run). Here the result can directly be related to the magnitude and temporal behaviour of the source terms. These results are not equally probable and it is up to the decision maker to judge the most likely valid source term. However, there is a clear difference between the scenarios and here we can have a fast estimation of the potential outcome of the accident.



Longitude (^o)

Figure 5 The deposition field after an accident with four different source terms for one weather ensemble.

If we now make an average over several dispersion runs (weather ensembles, in this case 4) we also can study the impact of weather as well as the other defined parameter uncertainties. In this case, we have a stable weather situation with a high pressure region over the European continent so averaging will not give any surprising results, see Figure 6.



Figure 6 Same as Figure 5 but deposition averaged over four dispersion runs (four different weather ensembles and related parameter uncertainties).

The area affected by the radioactive deposition grows and it is most clear for M12 and M19. With all the 50 dispersion calculations (not done at the moment) we expect to see larger uncertainties.

Conclusions and future work

Post-processing together with LHS generated dispersion calculations is an efficient way of combining the uncertainties (weather, dispersion and source parameters). It allows the end-user to add the most plausible scenario together with its uncertainties after the dispersion runs which can be limited to a reasonable number. Basically, there will be one run per meteorological ensemble member and per radionuclide (or family of radionuclides). At present the number of runs must be multiplied by the number of radionuclides included in the dispersion. At least three families of radionuclides should be included (Mathieu and Korsakissok, 2018).

Future work must address different aspects in the modelling/analysis process. First of all we have to determine which parameters to include in the uncertainty calculations and their probability distributions. Here, much has already been done and the two most important parameters are weather and source characteristics. However, there is an urgent need to better understand the source uncertainties for given scenarios. Work on running reactor state physics models with respect to this area is ongoing (FASTNET) but will not cover all aspects needed for determining the uncertainties.

A relevant question to answer is how representative this LHS uncertainty analysis is compared to a true MCM approach. We have already mentioned that it is important that a proper stratification number is chosen. Since we work with stratified samples there is a risk that we are missing important combinations. However, as mentioned above, the most important parameters are weather and source properties and those are covered by the postprocessing approach. So with this in mind we think that we will capture the most important features of the uncertainties.

Atmospheric Dispersion Modelling

Combination of an NWP Model Ensemble and a Source-Term Ensemble

In the MUD, FAUNA and MESO NKS-B projects, cf. Sørensen *et al.* (2014, 2016 and 2017), the atmospheric dispersion model ensembles were based on Numerical Weather Prediction (NWP) model ensembles with N members. In AVESOME, the ensembles involved can be either a Source Term (ST) ensemble with M members applied to a deterministic NWP model, or an ST ensemble combined with an NWP model ensemble. In the latter case, the overall statistical ensemble is larger including $N \times M$ members, cf. Figure 7 below.



Figure 7 Schematic representation of the combination of an *N*-member NWP model ensemble with an *M*-member ST ensemble.

Ensemble Statistics for Atmospheric Dispersion Modelling

The members of a meteorological ensemble are equally likely. However, for a source-term ensemble this is not so; the source-term ensemble members corresponding to serious cases, e.g. core-melt by-pass releases, are very much less likely than other cases. For emergency preparedness purposes taking into account both the meteorological uncertainty and the source-term uncertainty, the analysis applied to an atmospheric dispersion model ensemble should thus be based on weighted statistics. Fortunately, a system such as the RApid Source TErm Prediction (RASTEP) system (Knochenhauer *et al.*, 2013), provides also a-priori probabilities for each source term generated thereby enabling the use of weighted statistics.

Consider an *N* member ensemble e_i , i = 1, ..., N, e.g. a concentration field, $e_i = c_i(\mathbf{r}, t)$ where *t* denotes time and \mathbf{r} location for a given radionuclide. With corresponding relative weights, w_i , we can define normalized weight factors ($\sum_i f_i = 1$),

$$f_i = \frac{w_i}{\sum_{j=1,\dots N} w_j}$$

In case of equal weighting, we have $f_i = 1/N$. The ensemble average can now be expressed

$$e_{\rm avg} = \sum_{i=1,\dots,N} f_i \; e_i$$

The probability for exceeding a threshold value c_t is given by

$$P_{\rm t} = \sum_{i=1,\dots,N} f_i \,\vartheta(e_i > c_{\rm t})$$

where ϑ denotes the Heaviside step function.

In general, there is no commonly used definition of a weighted quantile or percentile. Here, we define it as quantiles of the weighted set $\{Nf_i \ e_i \mid i = 1, ..., N\}$. The weighted quantiles can be used for risk zoning, i.e. to estimate the geographical area which can be influenced according to the ensemble. However, the quantiles are not solutions to the governing equations and should be seen as statistical measures only.

It is tempting to employ minimum and maximum percentiles to estimate risk zones. However, they are influenced by outliers in the tail of the distributions, and they are therefore in fact often much influenced by few ensemble members. This makes corresponding plots sensitive to the inclusion of more ensemble members and generally uncertain. Instead, a low and a high percentile, e.g. 5% and 95%, together with the mean or median are more appropriate and robust quantities for decision making purposes.

Typically, the no-release scenario is not included in the source-term ensemble. This implies that e.g. the calculated probabilities are conditional, i.e. probabilities given that there will be a release.

The Danish Emergency Response Model of the Atmosphere (DERMA)

The Danish Emergency Response Model of the Atmosphere (DERMA) (Sørensen *et al.*, 2007; Sørensen, 1998) is a comprehensive numerical regional and meso-scale atmospheric dispersion model developed at the Danish Meteorological Institute (DMI). The model is used operationally for the Danish nuclear emergency preparedness, for which the Danish Emergency Management Agency (DEMA) is responsible (Hoe *et al.*, 2002). Besides, the model is employed for veterinary emergency preparedness (Sørensen *et al.*, 2000; 2001; Mikkelsen *et al.*, 2003; Gloster *et al.*, 2010a; 2010b), where it is used for assessment of airborne spread of animal diseases, e.g. foot-and-mouth disease. DERMA may also be used to simulate atmospheric dispersion of chemical substances, biological warfare agents and ashes from volcanic eruptions, and it has been employed for probabilistic nuclear risk assessment (Lauritzen *et al.*, 2006; 2007; Baklanov *et al.*, 2003; Mahura *et al.*, 2003; 2005).

The main objective of DERMA is to predict the dispersion of a radioactive plume and the accompanied deposition. However, the model may also be used in situations where an increased level of radioactivity has been measured but no information is received on radioactive releases. In such cases, inverse (adjoint) modelling may be applied whereby potential sources of radioactivity may be localised and release rates estimated.

The three-dimensional model is of Lagrangian type making use of a hybrid stochastic particle-puff diffusion description, and it is currently capable of describing plumes at downwind distances up to the global scale (Sørensen *et al.*, 1998). The model utilizes aerosol size dependent dry and wet deposition parameterisations as described by Baklanov and Sørensen (2001).

Currently, DERMA makes use of analysed and forecasted meteorological data of various deterministic versions at DMI of the NWP model Harmonie (Bengtsson *et al.*, 2017) covering North-eastern Europe, Greenland and the Faeroes, and from the global model developed and operated by the European Centre for Medium-range Weather Forecasts (ECMWF). Further, DERMA utilizes the COMEPS (Yang *et al*, 2017) ensemble prediction system, which is based on the Harmonie model.

DERMA is interfaced with the Accident Reporting and Guidance Operational System (ARGOS) (Hoe *et al.*, 1999; 2002), a PC based nuclear decision-support system developed by DEMA and the Prolog Development Center (PDC). The integration of DERMA with the ARGOS system is effectuated through automated online digital communication and exchange of data between the ARGOS system and the DMI High Performance Computing (HPC) facility.

Case Studies

Meteorological Cases

A meteorological scenario has been selected, and the DMI ensemble prediction system has been applied to this case with an initial 54 hour forecast series. The numerical weather prediction ensemble data are made available to the DERMA atmospheric dispersion model.

20 May 2011

At the start of the forecast (18 UTC), a low-pressure system is located northwest of Scotland with associated gale force winds south of it. The wind over Scandinavia is mostly from southwest, see Figure 8. Later, a front with relative intense rainfall passes Denmark and southern Scandinavia.Figure 10 Figure 9 shows that there is little spread in the location of the front, but some spread in the intensity of the rainfall.



Figure 8 Ensemble mean wind in 850 hPa (wind flags), mean sea level pressure (red contours) and 1-h precipitation in mm (shaded) from forecast initiated at 18 UTC, 20 May 2011.

20110520 18+48h, 3h accum. precip Valid on Sunday 22 May 18:00 UTC



Figure 9 25 ensemble members each showing precipitation accumulated between forecast hours 45 and 48. Contours at 0.5, 1, 2, 5, 10, 20 and 50 mm.

27 April 2016

A low-pressure system is situated over southern Denmark (Figure 10). It is weakened during the forecast, and the wind reduced. There are several rain showers associated with this low. This is also seen in the meteogram for Karup (Figure 11) where the precipitation panel should be interpreted as a risk of rain every hour for the first 30 hours, not as rain continuously every hour.



Figure 10 Ensemble mean of 6 hour forecast of hourly precipitation in mm (shaded), wind at 850 hPa (wind barbs) and mean sea level pressure (MSLP; red contours). Individual MSLP ensemble members (brown contours around every other red contour) illustrate the forecast uncertainty.



Figure 11 Meteogram showing ensemble forecast for Karup. Top: Precipitation, where each member at every forecast hour is shown as a vertical line (blue for snow, green for total snow + rain). Middle: Wind speed at 10 m above ground (light blue shows "outer half" of the members; darker blue shows "inner half" of the members; darkest blue shows the median). Bottom: Wind roses, indicating the wind direction for each ensemble member.

Source Term Ensembles Employed

The generic BWR source-term ensemble consists of a list of probabilities and source terms for the different release categories from the full power operation cases of a PSA Level 2. The source terms are deduced from an analysis with an estimated time of release, released amount of key radionuclides divided into time intervals, for a particular release path, see Table 2 and Figure 12.

The a-priori probabilities and the associated source-term ensemble for the full power cases are taken from the full-scale PSA model, grouped according to the needs of the Rapid Source Term Prediction (RASTEP) tool. The source-term ensemble weights are the probabilities of the BBN nodes resulting in a release, normalised so that the sum of them is one. The severe cases have large uncertainties, and therefore the associated source terms are assessed by a conservative approach. Thus, if any of them would occur in real life one should expect them to result in less severe consequences than the cases defined by source terms coming from PSA Level 2.

For the example employed in this study, "OT" is a sequence in which the initiating event is a transient, whereas "OL" is a sequence with LOCA as the initiating event. "L-X" indicates a release from diffuse leakage in the containment. "GAP" means a release with the gap inventory in the fuel (no core melt). "L" and "E" indicate late and early containment failure, respectively. The mitigation systems are filtered containment venting "F" and spray "S". "I" means early core melt with no spray. "BYP" means that the containment integrity is not sustained but bypassed. "RH" and "TH" indicate the reactor and turbine hall release paths, respectively.

Node State	Customised Source Term	Building	Mode
early_failure_spray	OTES	Containment ST2	Transient early/spray
early_failure_no_spray	ΟΤΙ	Containment ST2	Transient early/no spray
late_failure_spray	OTLS	Containment ST2	Transient late/spray
late_failure_no_spray	OTL	Containment ST2	Transient late/no spray
containment_vent_362_spray	F-ES	Containment ST2	Transient 362 venting/spray
containment_vent_362_no_spray	F-E	Containment ST2	Transient 362 venting/no spray
loca_early_failure_spray	OLES	Containment ST2	LOCA early/spray
loca_early_failure_no_spray	OLI	Containment ST2	LOCA early/no spray
loca_late_failure_spray	OLLS	Containment ST2	LOCA late/spray
loca_late_failure_no_spray	OLL	Containment ST2	LOCA late/no spray
loca_containment_vent_362_spray	F-ES	Containment ST2	LOCA 362 venting/spray
loca_containment_vent_362_no_spray	F-E	Containment ST2	LOCA 362 venting/no spray
loca_gap	GAP	Containment ST1	LOCA gap release (no bypass)
diffuse_leakage	L-X	Containment ST2	Diffuse leakage
melt_bypass_filtered	BYP-RH-F	Reactor Hall	Melt bypass (filtered)
melt_bypass_unfiltered	BYP-RH	Reactor Hall	Melt bypass (unfiltered)
gap_bypass_filtered	BYP-GAP-RH-F	Reactor Hall	Gap bypass (filtered)
melt_TB_overP	BYP-TH	Turbine Hall	Melt bypass
gap_TB_overP	BYP-GAP	Turbine Hall	Gap bypass

Table 2 Generic BWR source-term ensemble.

In total, 19 source terms are obtained containing absolute releases of six key radionuclides divided into 4 release phases. For this ensemble, each source-term member contains the same radionuclei, which does not apply in general. With a meteorological ensemble of 25 members, the combined ensemble consists of $25 \times 19 = 475$ members.



Figure 12 Accumulated release of Cs-137 as function of time since the emergency shutdown of a nuclear reactor (SCRAM) for the source-term ensemble members.

The source-term ensemble and associated a priori probabilities described above are not quality controlled. However, for the sake of illustrating the methodology, the values are very useful.

At the early phase of a serious nuclear accident with hardly any knowledge on the source term, the difference between the ensemble minimum and maximum is very large. Probably, the ensemble shown in Table 2 is too large to be of any practical value. Instead, one may decide to use a scenario-based approach limiting the ensemble members to selected ones. Below, a number of such sub-sets are specified. For each of them, the weighting factors should be re-normalized.

Later, when additional information on the plant status is received, the source-term ensemble will become more focused; in the end probably to a fairly well defined source term or a few. At this point in time, one should probably request new calculations due to the likely appearance of new NWP model forecast available e.g. each three hours. For the present calculations, however, the same NWP model data have been used.

Mitigation source-term ensemble

Few hours after the start of the event, one will likely know if the containment has been successfully isolated and (at least one of) the mitigation systems (containment spraying¹ and filtering²) are functioning. In such case, the source-term ensemble is reduced to: (GAP, L-X, OTES, OTLS, F-ES, F-E, OLES, OLLS)

No-mitigation source-term ensemble

In case of a severe accident where the mitigation systems are needed but not working or the containment is bypassed, the source-term ensemble is reduced to: (OTI, OTL, OLL, OLI, BYP, BYP-GAP-RH, BYP-RH-F, BYP-RH, BYP-GAP-RH-F, BYP-TH, BYP-GAP)

Containment source-term

In case the accident involves the containment only, the source-term ensemble is: (OTES, OTI, OTLS, OTL, F-ES, F-E, OLES, OLI, OLLS, OLL, GAP, L-X)

By-pass source-term ensemble

In case the accident is a by-pass scenario, the source-term ensemble is reduced to: (BYP, BYP-GAP-RH, BYP-RH-F, BYP-RH, BYP-GAP-RH-F, BYP-TH, BYP-GAP)

Ambivalent source-term ensemble

The use of a sub-set of the source-term ensemble based on observations entered into the RASTEP model is investigated in the "ambivalent case". In this case, by-pass cases are excluded by an observation on successful containment isolation. Furthermore, an almost minimal set of information is provided by stating that the reactor was at power operation when the initiating event occurred and that the core water level is now observed to be low. In this case, the RASTEP model suggests three possible outcomes with similar probabilities due to the lack of information, hence creating ambivalence in the predicted event and source term.

Building	Renormalized weighting factor
Containment	0.81%
Containment	3.82%
Containment	21.22%
Containment	2.26%
Containment	3.02%
Containment	28.76%
Containment	0.03%
Containment	0.02%
Containment	1.06%
Containment	0.02%
Containment	38.98%
	Building Containment Containment Containment Containment Containment Containment Containment Containment Containment

Table 3 "Ambivalent" BWR source-term ensemble.

The presented values are just examples and should not be taken for representative for a specific reactor. In the above examples, no uncertainties of the release starting time, duration or release magnitude are included. Sequence prediction uncertainty given the lack of detailed accident status information is, however, provided by RASTEP.

¹ Containment spraying implies that the containment is sprayed with water in order to decrease the temperature of the vapour, thereby reducing the containment pressure.

² The release to the environment is lead through the containment venting and filtering system.

Atmospheric Dispersion Cases

The DERMA model has been applied to each of the above release scenarios, the full generic BWR, the mitigation, the no-mitigation, the containment, the by-pass, and the ambivalent source-term ensembles. Two NPPs have been selected, the Brokdorf NPP using the 20 May 2011 meteorological case, and the Ringhals NPP using the 27 April 2016 meteorological case. In reality, the generic BWR source terms do not apply to the Brokdorf NPP which is a PWR (pressurized water reactor) and not a BWR. However, our objective is to illustrate the methodology, and thus the reactor assumed at the position of the Brokdorf NPP is artificial.

The figures below concern accumulated deposition of Cs-137 based on 54 hour forecast NWP model data from the analysed state.

Brokdorf NPP for the 20 May 2011 meteorological case

Figure 13 below depicts the percentiles of accumulated deposition of Cs-137 for each member of the generic BWR source-term ensemble. Thus, the statistics is here purely meteorological. The calculations are based on 54 hour forecasted NWP model data from the analysed state dated 2016-04-27, 12 UTC. As can be seen in the horizontal, the case-dependent meteorological uncertainty is at the same levels as is seen in the MUD, FAUNA and MESO projects (Sørensen *et al.*, 2014, 2016, 2017). However, in the vertical, the differences between the source-term members are in general much larger.

Sourc	10 th percentile	50 th percentile	90 th percentile	
e				A priori
Term				prob.
OTES				0.0271%
ΟΤΙ				0.0074%
OTLS				0.0775%

OTL			0.0127%
F-ES			8.9338%
F-E			6.8910%
OLES	20110327 00 00 UTC. That dependent on 4 0 m, Co 137		0.0521%
OLI	20110327 00 00 UTC. That dependent on t 0 m, Co 137	22110522 00 00 UTC Time dependence at 9 m, Co 127	0.4911%
OLLS	2011023 00 00 UTC Tital dependion at 0 m, 0-137		0.0077%

OLL				0.0001%
ВҮР				0.0423%
BYP- GAP- RH				0.0463%
GAP				1.8334%
L-X	2011023 00:00 UTC Total departition at 0 m, C+137	2911923 90:90 UTC Tele dependition et 9 m, C-137	2011023 00:00 UTC Total dependention of 0 m, C+137	81.4042%
BYP- RH-F				0.0000%



Figure 13 Percentiles of accumulated deposition (Bq/m^2) of Cs-137 for the individual source terms of the generic BWR source-term ensemble. Release start (SCRAM) at 2011-05-20 18:00 UTC.

In Figure 14 are shown percentiles of accumulated deposition of Cs-137 and probabilities for exceeding given threshold values for the entire generic BWR source-term ensemble. This ensemble encompasses more or less all possible releases, and thus there is an enormous difference between a low and a large quantile. Further, it is important to recall that due to the use of weighted ensemble statistics, the severe cases have been suppressed by the weighting factors, the a-priori probabilities. If the ensemble statistical results, e.g. the percentile plots, will be used to assist in estimating risk zones aiming at worst-case scenarios, one should rather use a limited source-term ensemble including the severe scenarios only.



Figure 14 Percentiles of accumulated deposition (Bq/m²) of Cs-137 and probabilities (%) for exceeding given threhold values for the *Entire* generic BWR source-term ensemble. Release start (SCRAM) at 2011-05-20 18:00 UTC.

For practical emergency preparedness, it may be preferable instead to take a scenario-based approach using selected scenarios, e.g. the mitigation, the no-mitigation, the containment, the by-pass and the ambivalent scenarios as described above in Section "Source Term Ensembles Employed". In this case, the weighting factors should be re-normalized for each of these sub-ensembles, which implies that the sub-ensembles cannot be directly compared regarding absolute magnitudes.

In Figure 15 – Figure 19 are shown percentiles of accumulated deposition of Cs-137 and probabilities for exceeding given threshold values for the the mitigation, no-mitigation, containment, by-pass and ambivalent scenarios.


Figure 15 Percentiles of accumulated deposition (Bq/m²) of Cs-137 and probabilities (%) for exceeding given threhold values for the *Mitigation* generic BWR source-term ensemble. Release start (SCRAM) at 2011-05-20 18:00 UTC.



Figure 16 Percentiles of accumulated deposition (Bq/m²) of Cs-137 and probabilities (%) for exceeding given threhold values for the *No-mitigation* generic BWR source-term ensemble. Release start (SCRAM) at 2011-05-20 18:00 UTC.



Figure 17 Percentiles of accumulated deposition (Bq/m²) of Cs-137 and probabilities (%) for exceeding given threhold values for the *Containment* generic BWR source-term ensemble. Release start (SCRAM) at 2011-05-20 18:00 UTC.



Figure 18 Percentiles of accumulated deposition (Bq/m^2) of Cs-137 and probabilities (%) for exceeding given threhold values for the *By-pass* generic BWR source-term ensemble. Release start (SCRAM) at 2011-05-20 18:00 UTC.



Figure 19 Percentiles of accumulated deposition (Bq/m²) of Cs-137 and probabilities (%) for exceeding given threhold values for the *Ambivalent* generic BWR source-term ensemble. Release start (SCRAM) at 2011-05-20 18:00 UTC.

Ringhals NPP for the 27 April 2016 meteorological case

Figure 20 below depicts the percentiles of accumulated deposition of Cs-137 for each member of the generic BWR source-term ensemble. Thus, the statistics is here purely meteorological. The calculations are based on 54 hour forecasted NWP model data from the analysed state dated 2016-04-27, 12 UTC. As can be seen in the horizontal, the case-dependent meteorological uncertainty is at the same levels as is seen in the MUD, FAUNA and MESO projects (Sørensen *et al.*, 2014, 2016, 2017). However, in the vertical, the differences between the source-term members are in general much larger.

Sourc	10 th percentile	50 th percentile	90 th percentile	
e				A priori
Term	20160501 18:00 UTC Total deposition at 0 m, Cp-137	20160501 18:00 UTC Total deposition at 0 m, Cs-127	20160501 18:00 UTC Total deposition at 0 m, Co-137	prob.
OTES				0.0271%
ΟΤΙ				0.0074%
	20160501 18:00 UTC Total deposition at 0 m, Cs-137	20160501 18:00 UTC Total deposition at 0 m, Cs-137	20160501 18:00 UTC Total deposition at 0 m, Cs-137	
OTLS				0.0775%
	20160501 18:00 UTC Total deposition at 0 m, Cs-137	20160501 18:00 UTC Total deposition at 0 m, Cs-137	20160501 19:00 UTC Total deposition at 0 m, Cs-137	
OTL				0.0127%

F-ES		8.9338%
F-E		6.8910%
OLES		0.0521%
OLI		0.4911%
OLLS		0.0077%
OLL		0.0001%

ВҮР			0.0423%
BYP- GAP- RH			0.0463%
GAP			1.8334%
L-X			81.4042%
BYP- RH-F	2010001 18 00 UTC Total departition at 0 m, C+137		0.0000%
BYP- RH			0.0463%



Figure 20 Percentiles of accumulated deposition (Bq/m^2) of Cs-137 for the individual source terms of the generic BWR source-term ensemble. Release start (SCRAM) at 2016-04-27 12:00 UTC.

In Figure 21 are shown percentiles of accumulated deposition of Cs-137 and probabilities for exceeding given threshold values for the entire generic BWR source-term ensemble. This ensemble encompasses more or less all possible releases, and thus there is an enormous difference between a low and a large quantile. Further, it is important to recall that due to the use of weighted ensemble statistics, the severe cases have been suppressed by the weighting factors, the a-priori probabilities. If the ensemble statistical results, e.g. the percentile plots, will be used to assist in estimating risk zones aiming at worst-case scenarios, one should rather use a limited source-term ensemble including the severe scenarios only.



Figure 21 Percentiles of accumulated deposition (Bq/m²) of Cs-137 and probabilities (%) for exceeding given threhold values for the *Entire* generic BWR source-term ensemble. Release start (SCRAM) at 2016-04-27 12:00 UTC.

For practical emergency preparedness, it may be preferable instead to take a scenario-based approach using selected scenarios, e.g. the mitigation, the no-mitigation, the containment, the by-pass and the ambivalent scenarios as described above in Section "Source Term Ensembles Employed". In this case, the weighting factors should be re-normalized for each of these sub-ensembles, which implies that the sub-ensembles cannot be directly compared regarding absolute magnitudes.

In Figure 22–Figure 26 are shown percentiles of accumulated deposition of Cs-137 and probabilities for exceeding given threshold values for the mitigation, no-mitigation, containment, by-pass and ambivalent scenarios.



Figure 22 Percentiles of accumulated deposition (Bq/m²) of Cs-137 and probabilities (%) for exceeding given threhold values for the *Mitigation* generic BWR source-term ensemble. Release start (SCRAM) at 2016-04-27 12:00 UTC.



Figure 23 Percentiles of accumulated deposition (Bq/m²) of Cs-137 and probabilities (%) for exceeding given threhold values for the *No-mitigation* generic BWR source-term ensemble. Release start (SCRAM) at 2016-04-27 12:00 UTC.



Figure 24 Percentiles of accumulated deposition (Bq/m²) of Cs-137 and probabilities (%) for exceeding given threhold values for the *Containment* generic BWR source-term ensemble. Release start (SCRAM) at 2016-04-27 12:00 UTC.



Figure 25 Percentiles of accumulated deposition (Bq/m^2) of Cs-137 and probabilities (%) for exceeding given threhold values for the *By-pass* generic BWR source-term ensemble. Release start (SCRAM) at 2016-04-27 12:00 UTC.



Figure 26 Percentiles of accumulated deposition (Bq/m²) of Cs-137 and probabilities (%) for exceeding given threhold values for the *Ambivalent* generic BWR source-term ensemble. Release start (SCRAM) at 2016-04-27 12:00 UTC.

Selection of percentile values

In many application areas, risk is measured by a p-quantile, with p close to 0 or 1. In safety analyses of NPPs for instance, the U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission requires that for an event such as LOCA, the 0.95-quantile of the peak cladding temperature must lie below a given threshold. The stratified sampling technique employed guarantees that also scenarios with small probabilities, but severe consequences, are sampled (Bedford and Cooke, 2016; Nakayama, 2016).

For nuclear emergency preparedness, we recommend using a large and a low percentile of accumulated radionuclide deposition fields and human doses in support of the estimation of risk zones. The reason for not using the absolute minimum and maximum is that these quantities are often influenced by a few outliers. A low and a high percentile, e.g. 5% and 95%, are more robust parameters, and thus appropriate, for decision making.

From a statistical point of view, a meteorological ensemble of around 25 members, and a source-term ensemble of, say, 20 members is fairly small, and the percent value should be balanced against the number of ensemble members. On may select e.g. 10% and 90% for a meteorological ensemble. However, for the much larger combined ensemble of around 500 members, the use of e.g. 2% and 98% is enabled. Due to the large variability between the source-term members, the percentiles are very sensitive to the actual percent value employed. For the above Brokdorf NPP release scenario involving the 475 member combined ensemble, this sensitivity can be seen in Figure 27.



Figure 27 Percentiles of accumulated deposition (Bq/m²) of Cs-137 for the *Entire* generic BWR source-term ensemble. Release start (SCRAM) at 2011-05-20 18:00 UTC.

ARGOS and Ensemble Results

The Long Range dispersion model interface in ARGOS is now capable of providing an ensemble of source terms – a list of possible release descriptions for the same accident type – and to handle multiple results from a single Long Range (LR) request, including a set of statistical results from a so-called 'Ensemble' run.

This new feature is implemented in collaboration with the Danish Meteorological Institute (DMI) on whose HPC facility a single model run request from ARGOS in parallel produces a number of deterministic results (each in its own file) and a number of statistical results (all in the same file) – all based on the same input request but with differing source terms – from the ensemble of source terms – and with different versions of NWP model data. Statistical results will be available for the ensemble of NWP model data for each source term and for the total of all source terms and all NWP model data.

Source terms in ARGOS

In ARGOS, a single source term is defined as time-dependent release rates of individual radioactive nuclides combined with additional information on release height, heat flux, iodine distribution and distribution of particle sizes. In Figure 28 is shown an example.

Absolut	te source tern	n definition													×
FKA La	arge Ge	rman filter	bypass												
				Only allow nuclides in the release from this group: All Nuclides					∏ <u>B</u> asic						
Release Inte	erval Character	istics and Iodine Con	position:				🗌 Altitude Range	Nuclide Dist	ibution:						
# Dura	tion [mins]	Iodine Elem % I	odine Orga %	Iodine Aero % Heat	Flux [kW]	Release type	Altitude [m]	Nuclide	Inty, 1 [Ba]	Inty, 2 [Ba]	Inty, 3 [Bo]	Inty, 4 [Bo]	Inty, 5 [Bo]	Inty, 6 [Bo]	Inty, 7 [Bo]
1	36	0	0	100	Ó	Default	30	Ba-140	2.2200E+14	2.4600E+14	6.3900E+14	1.9100E+12	7.6700E+15	8.1400E+15	1.1300E+
2	48	0	0	100	0	Default	30	Ce-144	9.8100E+08	1.2800E+09	5.4800E+09	8.4200E+09	3.6200E+14	5.0600E+14	2.4800E+
3	63	0	0	100	0	Default	30	Cm-242	0.0000E+00	0.0000E+00	0.0000E+00	0.0000E+00	1.6800E+11	3.4600E+11	9.2000E+
4	31	0	0	100	0	Default	30	Cm-244	0.0000E+00	0.0000E+00	0.0000E+00	0.0000E+00	6.6700E+09	1.3800E+10	3.6600E+
5	59	0	0	100	0	Default	30	Cs-134	3.3200E+15	5.2200E+14	2.0000E+15	3.0200E+14	1.7200E+15	4.3700E+14	9.7400E+
6	154	0	0	100	0	Default	30	Cs-137	2.8500E+15	4.4800E+14	1.7100E+15	2.5900E+14	1.4800E+15	3.7400E+14	8.3500E+
7	193	0	0	100	0	Default	30	I -131	3.3900E+16	5.4900E+15	1.9200E+16	2.8100E+15	1.6400E+16	5.2400E+15	7.7600E+
8	167	0	0	100	0	Default	30	I -132	4.4500E+16	7.1900E+15	2.5100E+16	3.6500E+15	2.1200E+16	6.7400E+15	9.9000E+ <
9	167	0	0	100	0	Default	30	I -133	3.9100E+16	6.1800E+15	2.0900E+16	2.9500E+15	1.6800E+16	5.3200E+15	7.7100E+
10	16/	0	0	100	0	Default	30	I -134	3.4600E+14	4.2600E+13	8.6200E+13	4.6800E+12	8.6600E+08	2.7300E+08	3.9600E+
11	16/	0	0	100	0	Default	30	I -135	1.0700E+16	1.5400E+15	4.4800E+15	5.4000E+14	2.7400E+15	8.6500E+14	1.2500E+
12	148	0	0	100	0	Default	30	Kr- 8/	6.6400E+14	7.7700E+13	1.1800E+14	2.9600E+12	1.3/00E+11	5.1800E+10	1.0200E+
13	165	0	0	100	0	Default	30	Kr- 88	6.0300E+15	7.2200E+14	1.1/00E+15	3.7000E+13	2.6400E+14	9.9800E+13	1.9600E+
19	167	0	0	100	0	Default	30	La-140	0.0000E+00	0.0000E+00	0.0000E+00	0.0000E+00	1.4400E+13	2.9600E+13	7.8500E+
15	167	0	0	100	0	Default	30	M0- 99	0.0000E+00	0.0000E+00	0.0000E+00	0.0000E+00	1.3600E+07	1.//00E+08	2.4500E+
17	167	0	0	100	0	Default	30	Pu-230	7.6600E+00	0.0000E+00	4 2800E+08	9.2400E+00	3.9700E+11	2.0500E+11	2.7200E+
18	167	0	0	100	0	Default	30	Pu 102	9 2600E+07	1.7400E+10	5.4800E+08	1 1100E+08	1.6100E+00	6 6500E+13	5 52005
19	167	0	0	100	0	Default	30	Ru-105	2 1000E+09	4 4100E±00	1 3000E±10	2 8200E±07	4 0000E±08	1 6000E±08	1 4100E+
20	167	Ő	0	100	0	Default	30	Sr- 90	7 7100E+12	8 5400E+12	2 2200E+13	6.6600E+10	2 6800E+14	2 8600E+14	3 9700E+
21	167	0	0	100	0	Default	30	Te-132	3 7000E+16	6.8100E+15	1.6400E+16	2 3000E+15	2.0700E+16	2 3800E+15	7 4000E+
22	83	0	0	100	0	Default	30	Xe-133	4.0800E+17	6.2900E+16	1.6500E+17	1,1200E+16	2.4400E+17	9.3500E+16	1.8800E+
								Xe-135	1.1000E+17	1.6600E+16	4.2300E+16	2.8000E+15	6.0100E+16	2,2700E+16	4.4800E+
								Zr- 95	1.5300E+09	2.0000E+09	8.5500E+09	1.3100E+10	5.6400E+14	7.9000E+14	3.8600E+
								<							>
1								,						_	
															<u>O</u> K
								1							
Add Inte	rval De	iete Interval			A	dd Nudide D	elete Nuclide Add	Daughters	Save As						Cancel

Figure 28 A typical source term in ARGOS.

Now a number of source terms can be combined into an Ensemble of source terms in ARGOS – including their relative probability or weighting factor, cf. Figure 29.

Sample Ensemble	
Source term	Probability [%]
BWR LOCA early failure with no spray	50
BWR Transient with filtered venting and no spray	33
BWR Transient with early failure and no spray	12
BWR Transient with late failure and no sprav	5
Add source term Delete source term Save As	ОК
Add source term Save As	OK

Figure 29 An ensemble of source terms and their probability in ARGOS.

LR request from ARGOS

The Request dialog in ARGOS has been changed in order to provide not only a single source term but rather an ensemble of source terms, cf. Figure 30. When an ensemble of source terms is selected, ARGOS will send a file per source term to the server. The DMI server then simply starts, in parallel, a series of model runs based on the different input information provided in the different request-files.

Atmospheric Dispersion	n: Request Run			\times
Service:	DERMA Ensemble	•		
Reactor Name:	RINGHALS-1	▼		
Source term type:	Ensemble	-		
Ensemble source term:	Sample Ensemble	▼		
Output Timestep [h]:	3 🗸			
Start Time [UTC]:	20-dec-2018 13:00 ·			
End Time [UTC]:	21-dec-2018 13:00 •		Resolution	1
			• High (larger files)	
			C Low	
Coordinates				
Lon: 12*6*30	Lat: 57*15*23		Mode	_
Coordinate Syste	, em:			
WGS84	y y			
		1		
:	Save		Cancel Send Request	

Figure 30 The updated request dialog in ARGOS.

A special result (Versions-xml) file, called <runid>_"Versions.xml", gives information on all the generated results, as these are being started. This Versions-xml file is then downloaded and used in ARGOS to monitor the progress on each version of result data (each 'run version').

Monitoring (for Version file)

When starting a request, a dialog window is displayed that lists the various version results being produced and their run state, see Figure 31.

DERMA Import			>
DERMA run "PDC_test_5" versions. Select a version when its state is 'Ready'	and then click 'Impo	ort' to download it.	
Version	State		Import
The Atlantic Ocean + Northern Europe Greenland + Middle East Ensemble Prediction, Northern Europe Global, Northern Hemisphere	Downloaded Ready Failed Downloaded Downloaded Ready		
			Close

Figure 31 LR monitor.

The 'State' for a run version can be either "Not ready", "Running", "Ready", "Failed" or "Downloaded". The state for a run version is read from the version's status file by ARGOS after downloading the corresponding status file. The server produces one separate status file per run version.

The user can select a version that has become "Ready" and then click the "Import"-button, which will then open the Import-dialog. Clicking "Import" on this dialog will make ARGOS start downloading the result-file for the selected version.

LR Selection Tree

Once the result for a version has been downloaded, it will be visible in the LR-tree in ARGOS (Figure 32).



Figure 32 Results in the LR tree.

A new level of tree nodes (below the Run ID) is introduced for LR-results that use a Versions-xml file. This is necessary to separate the results from different versions. For the statistical results (except Probabilities), all the usual dose calculations are being performed by ARGOS, when the tree-node is being expanded the first time – as these calculations cannot be seen as dose calculations as such from a scientific point of view, they have a special prefix on the presentation of the unit for statistical plots, e.g. "Percentile (Sv)" or "Average (Bq/m²)", see Figure 33.



Figure 33 Prefix on the presentation of unit for a percentile plot.

As can be seen in Figure 34 below, all the dose calculations performed on deterministic results are also performed on statistical results.



Figure 34 Statistical results with "Dose Calculations".

In Figure 35 is shown an example of a plot in ARGOS comparing deposition on ground (Cs-137) for three different percentiles.

Image: Provide the second s	vent-Data DataExchange Basedata Tools Setup Window Help
Request run Type of data: Deposition on Ground Total, 90. percentile Nuclide: Age Group:	Time Interval of Current View: Set display siz From: 15:00:00 04/27/16 Image: Current View: Image: Current View: Image: Current View: To: 18:00:00 04/29/16 Image: Current View: Image: Current View: Image: Current View: AutoScale Image: Current View: Image: Current View: Image: Current View: Image: Current View: Sogn og Current View: Image: Current View: Image: Current View: Image: Current View: Sogn og Current View: Image: Current View: Image: Current View: Image: Current View: Sogn og Current View: Image: Current View: Image: Current View: Image: Current View: Sogn og Current View: Image: Current View: Image: Current View: Image: Current View: Sogn og Current View: Image: Current View: Image: Current View: Image: Current View: Sogn og Current View: Image: Current View: Image: Current View: Image: Current View: Sogn og Current View: Image: Current View: Image: Current View: Image: Current View: Sogn og Current View: Image: Current View: Image: Current View: Image: C
Request run Deposition on Ground Total, 90. percentile	From: 15:00:00 04/27/16 ↓ ↓ Isocurve grp: ✓ Fill ↓ To: 18:00:00 04/29/16 18:00:00 04/29/16 ↓
Get data Nuclide: Age Group:	To: [18:00:00 04/29/16 18:00:00 04/29/16 Is:00:00 04/29/16 Is:00:00:00 04/29/16 Is:00:00:00:00 04/29/16 Is:00:00:00:00:00 04/29/16 Is:00:00:00:00:00:00:00:00:00:00:00:00:00
	□ AutoScale □ Deposition T ▼ Isocuryes Sogn og □ Onpland ₩ Hedmark Gavleborgs
Cs-137 V	Sogn og Gavleborgs Gavleborgs
Gamma Dose from Plume Gamma Dose Rate from Plume Air Concentration, Time Integr Air Concentration, Instantaneo Deposition on Ground Total Deposition on Ground Wet Concentration, Instantaneo Concentration, Instantaneo Concentration on Ground Vet Concentration on Ground Vet Concentration Dose Concentration on Ground Concentration, Instantaneo Concentration, Instantaneo Concentra	rgen Hordalind Buskerud Como Buskerud Buskerud Cereborg Como Buskerud Cereborg Como Buskerud Cereborg Como Buskerud Cereborg Como Buskerud Cereborg Como Buskerud Cereborg Como Buskerud Cereborg Como Buskerud Cereborg Como Buskerud Cereborg Como Buskerud Cereborg Como Buskerud Cereborg Como Buskerud Cereborg Como Buskerud Cereborg Como Buskerud Cereborg Como Buskerud Cereborg Como Buskerud Cereborg Como Buskerud Cereborg Como Buskerud Cereborg Como Buskerud Cereborg Como Buskerud Como Como Buskerud Cereborg Como Como Como Como Como Como Como Com

Figure 35 Comparison of 10th (green), 50th (brown) and 90th (blue) percentile for 10 kBq/m² deposition of Cs-137 from a simulated release from Ringhals NPP.

In Figure 36 is shown an example of a plot in ARGOS showing three different intervention levels for Total Effective Dose on the Maximum percentile, and in Figure 37 for the Minimum percentile.



Figure 36 1, 10 and 50 mSv for the Maximum percentile (100%) of Total Effective Dose from a simulated release from Ringhals NPP.



Figure 37 1 and 10 mSv (no values over 50) for the Minimum percentile (0%) of the same simulated release from Ringhals.

For Probability results, only the results delivered by the model are shown as it does not make sense to perform "dose calculations" on the probability results, see Figure 38.



Figure 38 Statistical results with probabilities.

In Figure 39 is given an example of showing probability for exceeding 10 kBq/m^2 deposition of Cs-137.



Figure 39 Probability of exceeding 10 kBq/m² deposition of Cs-137, lines for 100, 50 and 25% inserted.

Interface Changes between ARGOS and Long Range Model (DERMA)

Request-interface

For the final implementation of the AVESOME project in ARGOS, the request-interface has been updated in order to reflect the need for requesting calculations with ensembles of source terms. If an Ensemble-run (of source terms) is requested, ARGOS simply provides a zip-file containing a release description file per source term in the ensemble.

Result-interface

As mentioned earlier, the Result interface between ARGOS and DERMA was enhanced in order to cope with the extra level of results coming from the delivery of statistical results. For this purpose, a new file produced by the DERMA-model – the version-file - in XML-format has been introduced.

The Versions-xml file describes all the run versions on the server. This XML file has the Schema as described below in Figure 40.



Figure 40 Versions-xml schema.

The two "Description" elements are used for the Monitoring dialog and the LR selection-tree.

The elements "Name" and "FolderName" are used to name subfolders below the Run ID folder.

The optional "Value" element shall be present for "Probability" outputs and contain the given probability. It shall also be present for "Percentile" output and contain the given percentile as a number.

The "ResultType" element shall be either "deterministic" or "statistical".

The "Type" element shall be either "Normal", "Percentile" or "Probability".

Protocol for Interactive Communication

The nuclear DSS and the long-range dispersion model are implemented in different computers. Typically, the DSS is implemented in a personal computer, e.g. a lap-top computer, whereas the dispersion model runs at a High Performance Computing (HPC) facility at the national meteorological centre where the vast amount of meteorological model data, including meteorological ensembles, are present in full spatial and temporal resolution. Thus, a protocol is required for interactive communication between the DSS and the HPC facility enabling the requests by the DSS user for long-range atmospheric dispersion model calculations. The following is an extension of such an already existing operational protocol, in this case ARGOS, extended with the capability of simultaneous handling of a number of source term descriptions.

If the request from the DSS, contains more than one source file, then dispersion model predictions will be carried out for each source, and results will become available for the DSS. Additionally, the request is considered as a request for source-term ensemble modelling. By requesting simultaneous calculation for more than one source term, calculations can organised effectively at the national meteorological service. If the set of source terms can be considered an ensemble spanning the possible realisations of the release, also the generated statistical output can be used to describe the related uncertainty of atmospheric dispersion.

The resulting statistical parameters are the same as for the NWP ensemble dispersion results (percentiles, probabilities etc.).

The ARGOS request zip-archive contains the following files:

ST000_DERMA_src, ST001_DERMA_src, ..., STMMM_DERMA_src ST000_DERMA_iso, ST001_DERMA_iso, ..., STMMM_DERMA_iso DERMA_input

The file DERMA_input is common for the different sources, holding among other data the geographical coordinates of the source and the start of the scenario. Weighting factors for each of the source-term ensemble members are supplied in a separate file denoted Weighting_factors.

The resulting data for ARGOS are organised as <ID> / <NWPmodel> / <src>; cf. also Figure 41.



Figure 41 Structure of the content of the resulting data from DERMA to ARGOS.

The content of each src-block is as of today for deterministic and meteorological ensemble models, except for the TOTAL block which holds the source-term ensemble statistical results in terms of percentiles, probabilities etc.

The tree structure represents both the content of the zip archive holding the results of the atmospheric dispersion model for the DSS, and the presentation hereof in the DSS.

Conclusions and Outlook

Implications have been addressed of the inherent uncertainties of the radionuclide source term on the prediction of atmospheric dispersion of radioactivity from a release. Such uncertainties involve both the amounts of radionuclides released and the temporal evolution of the release. Furthermore, the combined uncertainties of atmospheric dispersion model forecasting stemming from both the source term and the meteorological data are examined. Impacts on real-time emergency preparedness and management are further examined.

The seminar "Uncertainties in Decision Support – on the use of meteorological and sourceterm data in nuclear emergency management" was organized on 12 September 2018. The seminar attracted 40 persons from research institutions and governmental authorities, and included ten presentations. Representatives of the EU projects FASTNET and CONFIDENCE took part. The collaboration between AVESOME, FASTNET and CONFIDENCE, which was initiated during the first year of AVESOME, was continued, especially with respect to sourceterm model calculation and generation of source-term ensembles describing the inherent uncertainty. In the future, e.g. as a result of FASTNET, it is expected that radiation protection authorities will have available databases of ensembles of source terms describing the possible releases. The AVESOME methodology will also work well with the Rapid Source Term Prediction (RASTEP) system, which provides a set of possible source terms with associated probabilities based on pre-calculated source terms.

The methods developed in AVESOME allow for efficient real-time calculations by making use of scaling properties in the equations governing the release and the atmospheric dispersion of radionuclides. Accordingly, the computer-resource demanding calculations should be carried out at HPC facilities available e.g. at national meteorological services, whereas less demanding post-processing can be carried out at the computer hosting the DSS. The former tasks include atmospheric dispersion model calculations; the latter include interactive communication with the supercomputer as well as presentation of final results in the form of distributions of radionuclide concentrations, depositions and human doses.

For the source-term ensembles used, each member is in fact associated with an individual uncertainty. This is e.g. seen when applying different source-term models to the same scenario; it is well-known that such results may differ substantially. There is a need for future research in this area providing a better understanding of source-term uncertainties and their effects on atmospheric dispersion of radionuclides from nuclear accidents.

The methodology developed is applied to six source-term ensembles for the Ringhals and the Brokdorf NPPs and to two meteorological situations represented by weather ensembles. The methodology developed can be applied to any source-term ensemble and is thus prepared for future integration with e.g. RASTEP or the FASTNET source-term database.

The nuclear DSS ARGOS has been extended with a facility to handle multiple results from a single request for long-range prediction, including a set of statistical results from an ensemble run from either a meteorological ensemble or a source-term ensemble, or the two combined. A protocol is described for interactive communication between the DSS and the HPC facility enabling requests from the DSS user for long-range atmospheric dispersion model calculations. It is based on an existing operational protocol extended with the capability of simultaneous handling of a source-term ensemble.

References

Alonso, J. R., Santiago, A., and Alonso M. A. Consejo de Seguridad Nuclear use and experience with the MARS software. The 11th international Topical Meeting on Nuclear Reactor Thermal-Hydraulics (NURETH-11, 2005). Avignon, France

Baklanov, A. and J. H. Sørensen. Parameterisation of radionuclide deposition in atmospheric dispersion models. *Phys. Chem. Earth* **26** (2001) 787–799

Baklanov, A., A. Mahura and J. H. Sørensen. Methodology for Prediction and Estimation of Consequences of Possible Atmospheric Releases of Hazardous Matter: 'Kursk' Submarine Study. Atmos. *Phys. Chem.* Vol. **3** (2003) 747–762

Bedford, T., and Cooke, R. Probabilistic Risk Analysis: Foundations and Methods, Cambridge University Press (2001)

Bedwell, P., J. Wellings, S. Leadbetter, J. Tomas, S. Andronopoulos, I. Korsakissok, R. Périllat, A. Mathieu, G. Geertsema, H. Klein, H. de Vries, T. Hamburger, T. Pázmándi, C. Rudas, A. Sogachev, P. Szántó. D 9.1.4 - Guidelines detailing the range and distribution of atmospheric dispersion model input parameter uncertainties. EJP-CONCERT, European Joint Programme for the Integration of Radiation Protection Research, H2020 – 662287 (2018) http://www.concert-

h2020.eu/Document.ashx?dt=web&file=/Lists/Deliverables/Attachments/56/D9.1_CONFIDE NCE_D68_Guidelines%20ranking%20uncertainties%20for%20atmospheric%20dispersion_u pdated_approved02032018.pdf&guid=01b5ac77-b2ec-4cda-9c98-917dba396f0f

Bengtsson, L., U. Andrae, T. Aspelien, Y. Batrak, J. Calvo, W. de Rooy, E. Gleeson, B.H. Sass, M. Homleid, M. Hortal, K.-I. Ivarsson, G. Lenderink, S. Niemelä, K.P. Nielsen, J. Onvlee, L. Rontu, P. Samuelsson, D.S. Muñoz, A. Subias, S. Tijm, V. Toll, X. Yang and M.Ø. Køltzow. 2017: The HARMONIE–AROME Model Configuration in the ALADIN–HIRLAM NWP System, *Mon. Wea. Rev.* **145** (2017) 1919–1935 https://doi.org/10.1175/MWR-D-16-0417.1

Buizza, R., Miller, M.J. and Palmer, T.N. Stochastic representation of model uncertainties in the ECMWF ensemble prediction system. *Q.J.R. Meteorol. Soc.* **125** (1999) 2887–2908

Chatelard P., Belon S., Bosland L., Carénini L., Coindreau O., Cousin F., Marchetto C., Nowack H., Piar L., Chailan L, "Main modelling features of ASTEC V2.1 major version", Annals of Nuclear Energy, vol.93 (July 2016), pp.83-93

EPRI. MAAP4 Applications Guidance (2006). Palo Alto, CA

Feddersen, H. A short-range limited area ensemble prediction system at DMI. *DMI Tech. Rep.*, 09–14 (2009) <u>http://www.dmi.dk/dmi/tr09-14.pdf</u>

García-Moya, J., Callado, A., Escribà, P., Santos, C., Santos-Muñoz, D. and Simarro, J. Predictability of short-range forecasting: a multimodel approach. *Tellus A* **63** (2011) 550–563

Galmarini, S., R. Bianconi, W. Klug, T. Mikkelsen, R. Addis, S. Andronopoulos, P. Astrup, A. Baklanov, J. Bartnicki, J. C. Bartzis, R. Bellasio, F. Bompay, R. Buckley, M. Bouzom, H. Champion, R. D'Amours, E. Davakis, H. Eleveld, G. T. Geertsema, H. Glaab, M. Kollax, M. Ilvonen, A. Manning, U. Pechinger, C. Persson, E. Polreich, S. Potemski, M. Prodanova, J. Saltbones, H. Slaper, M. A. Sofiev, D. Syrakov, J. H. Sørensen, L. Van der Auwera, I. Valkama, R. Zelazny. Ensemble Dispersion Forecasting, Part I: Concept, Approach and Indicators. *Atmos. Environ.* **38** (2004) 4607–4617

Gloster, J., A. Jones, A. Redington, L. Burgin, J. H. Sørensen, R. Turner. International approach to atmospheric disease dispersion modelling. *Veterinary Record* 03 (2010a) **166** (12):369. DOI:10.1136/vr.166.12.369a

Gloster, J., A. Jones, A. Redington, L. Burgin, J. H. Sørensen, R. Turner, P. Hullinger, M. Dillon, P. Astrup, G. Garner, R. D'Amours, R. Sellers and D. Paton. Airborne spread of footand-mouth disease – model intercomparison. *Veterinary Journal* **183** (2010b) 278–286

HIRLAM. (2009) <u>http://www.hirlam.org/index.php/hirlam-programme-53/general-model-description/48-synoptic-scale-model-hirlam</u>

Hoe, S., J. H. Sørensen and S. Thykier-Nielsen. The Nuclear Decision Support System ARGOS NT and Early Warning Systems in Some Countries around the Baltic Sea. In: Proceedings of the 7th Topical Meeting on Emergency Preparedness and Response, September 14–17, 1999, Santa Fe, New Mexico, USA

Hoe, S., H. Müller, F. Gering, S. Thykier-Nielsen and J. H. Sørensen. ARGOS 2001 a Decision Support System for Nuclear Emergencies. In: Proceedings of the Radiation Protection and Shielding Division Topical Meeting, April 14–17, 2002, Santa Fe, New Mexico, USA

IAEA. Convention on Early Notification of a Nuclear Accident. (1986) <u>https://www.iaea.org/publications/documents/treaties/convention-early-notification-nuclear-accident</u>

IRSN. The PHEBUS FP programme (2012)

https://www.irsn.fr/EN/Research/Research-organisation/Research-programmes/PHEBUS-PF/Pages/Severe-accident-research-programme-PHEBUS-FP-3455.aspx

Kain, J. S. The Kain-Fritsch Convective Parameterization. An update. *J. Appl. Meteorol.* **43** (2004) 170–181

Knochenhauer, M., V. Hedtjärn Swaling, F. Di Dedda, F. Hansson, S. Sjökvist and K. Sunnegård. Using Bayesian Belief Network (BBN) Modelling for Rapid Source Term Prediction – Final Report. **NKS-293** ISBN 978-87-7893-369-0, (2013) http://www.nks.org/en/nks_reports/view_document.htm?id=111010111846390

Lauritzen, B., A. Baklanov, A. Mahura, T. Mikkelsen and J. H. Sørensen. K-model description of probabilistic long-range atmospheric transport in the Northern Hemisphere. *Atmos. Environ.* **40** (2006) 4352–4369

Lauritzen, B., A. Baklanov, A. Mahura, T. Mikkelsen and J. H. Sørensen. Probabilistic risk assessment for long-range atmospheric transport of radionuclides. *J. Envir. Radioactivity* **96** (2007) 110–115

Mathieu, A., I. Korsakissok, R. Périllat, K. Chevalier-Jabet, F. Stephani, S. Fougerolle, V. Créach, E. Cogez, and P. Bedwell. D 9.1.3 - Guidelines describing source term uncertainties. EJP-CONCERT, European Joint Programme for the Integration of Radiation Protection Research, H2020 – 662287 (2018) <u>http://www.concert-</u>

h2020.eu/Document.ashx?dt=web&file=/Lists/Deliverables/Attachments/56/D9.1_CONFIDE NCE_D68_Guidelines%20ranking%20uncertainties%20for%20atmospheric%20dispersion_u pdated_approved02032018.pdf&guid=01b5ac77-b2ec-4cda-9c98-917dba396f0f

McKay, M.D., W.J. Conover, och R.J. Beckman. A comparison of three methods for selecting values of input variables in the analysis of output from a computer code. *Technometrics* **21** (1979) 239

Mahura, A., A. Baklanov and J. H. Sørensen. Methodology for evaluation of possible consequences of accidental atmospheric releases of hazardous matter. *Radiat. Prot. Dos.* **103** (2003) 131–139

Mahura, A. G., A. A. Baklanov, J. H. Sørensen, F. L. Parker, V. Novikov, K. Brown, K. L. Compton 2004: Assessment of Atmospheric Transport and Deposition Patterns Related to Russian Pacific Fleet Operations. *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment* **101** (2005) 261–287

Mathieu A. and I. Korsakissok. D9.1 – Guidelines ranking uncertainties for atmospheric dispersion. Ares (2018) 1172146-02/03/2018

Mikkelsen, T., S. Alexandersen, H. Champion, P. Astrup, A. I. Donaldson, F. N. Dunkerley, J. Gloster, J. H. Sørensen and S. Thykier-Nielsen. Investigation of Airborne Foot-and-Mouth Disease Virus Transmission during Low-Wind Conditions in the Early Phase of the UK 2001 Epidemic. *Atmos. Chem. Phys. Disc.* **3** (2003) 677–703

Nakayama, M.K. Efficient Quantile Estimation When Applying Stratified Sampling and Conditional Monte Carlo, With Applications to Nuclear Safety. Proceedings of SIMUL 2016: The Eighth International Conference on Advances in System Simulation. IARIA (2016) ISBN: 978-1-61208-501-2 6

PDC-ARGOS. http://www.pdc-argos.com

Rao, K. S. Uncertainty Analysis in Atmospheric Dispersion Modeling. *Pure and Applied Geophysics*, *162*(10), 1893-1917 (2005). Doi:10.1007/s00024-005-2697-4

Rasch, P. J. and Kristjansson, J. E. A comparison of the CCM3 model climate using diagnosed and predicted condensate parameterizations. *J. Clim.* **11** (1998) 1587–1614

Reistad, O., P.L. Ølgaard (2006). Inventory and Source Term Evaluation of Russian Nuclear Power Plants for Marine Applications. NKS-139 ISBN 87-7893-201-7

Sandia National Laboratories. MELCOR Computer Code Manuals – Vol 3 (2001): Demonstration problems

Sass, B. H. A research version of the STRACO cloud scheme. *DMI Tech. Rep.*, 02–10 (2002) <u>http://www.dmi.dk/dmi/tr02-10.pdf</u>

Schönfeldt, F. Method for Source Uncertainty. FOI-R--4534--SE (2017)

Sigg, R. P. Lindgren, P. von Schoenberg, L. Persson, J. Burman, H. Grahn, N. Brännström och O. Björnham. Hazmat risk area assessment by atmospheric dispersion modelling using Latin hypercube sampling with weather ensemble. *Meteorological Applications* **25** (2018) 575–585, doi: 10.1002/met. 1722

Sørensen, J. H. Sensitivity of the DERMA Long-Range Dispersion Model to Meteorological Input and Diffusion Parameters. *Atmos. Environ.* **32** (1998) 4195–4206

Sørensen, J. H., D. K. J. Mackay, C. Ø. Jensen and A. I. Donaldson. An integrated model to predict the atmospheric spread of foot-and-mouth disease virus. *Epidemiol. Infect.* (2000) 124, 577–590

Sørensen, J. H., C. Ø. Jensen, T. Mikkelsen, D. Mackay and A. I. Donaldson. Modelling the atmospheric spread of foot-and-mouth disease virus for emergency preparedness. *Phys. Chem. Earth* **26** (2001) 93–97

Sørensen, J. H., A. Baklanov and S. Hoe. The Danish Emergency Response Model of the Atmosphere. *J. Envir. Radioactivity* **96** (2007) 122–129

Sørensen, J. H., B. Amstrup, H. Feddersen, U. S. Korsholm, J. Bartnicki, H. Klein, P. Wind, B. Lauritzen, S. C. Hoe, C. Israelson, and J. Lindgren. Meteorological Uncertainty of atmospheric Dispersion model results (MUD). **NKS-307** ISBN 978-87-7893-385-0, <u>http://www.nks.org/en/nks_reports/view_document.htm?id=111010212220490</u> (2014)

Sørensen, J.H., B. Amstrup, H. Feddersen, J. Bartnicki, H. Klein, M. Simonsen, B. Lauritzen, S. C. Hoe, C, Israelson and J. Lindgren. Fukushima Accident: UNcertainty of Atmospheric dispersion modelling (FAUNA). **NKS-360** ISBN 978-87-7893-444-4 (2016), <u>http://www.nks.org/scripts/getdocument.php?file=111010213440189</u>

Sørensen, J. H., B. Amstrup, T. Bøvith, H. Feddersen, R. Gill, M. Sørensen, F. Vejen, P. Astrup, N. Davis, B. Lauritzen, S. C. Hoe, J. E. Dyve, P. Lindahl. MEteorological uncertainty of ShOrt-range dispersion (MESO). **NKS-380** ISBN 978-87-7893-466-6 (2017), http://www.nks.org/en/nks_reports/view_document.htm?id=111010214043891

Undén, P. and co-authors. HIRLAM-5 Scientific Documentation, 144 pp, available from http://hirlam.org (2002)

Yang, X., H. Feddersen, B.H. Sass, K. Sattler. Construction of a continuous mesocale EPS with time lagging and assimilation on overlapping windows. ALADIN-HIRLAM Newsletter **8** (2017) 112–118, http://www.umr-cnrm.fr/aladin/IMG/pdf/nl8-final.pdf

Acknowledgements

The AVESOME team is grateful to Dr. Leif Persson, FOI CBRN Defence and Security, and Department of Mathematics and Mathematical Statistics, Umeå University, Sweden, for sharing his thoughts on probabilistic risk analysis with us.

We are grateful to Drs. Anders Riber Marklund and Elisabeth Tengborn, Lloyd's Register Consulting – Energy AB, Sundbyberg, Sweden, for providing us with source-term ensembles and associated a-priori probabilities as well as for helpful discussions and comments.

NKS conveys its gratitude to all organizations and persons who by means of financial support or contributions in kind have made the work presented in this report possible.

Disclaimer

The views expressed in this document remain the responsibility of the author(s) and do not necessarily reflect those of NKS. In particular, neither NKS nor any other organisation or body supporting NKS activities can be held responsible for the material presented in this report.
Title	Added Value of uncertainty Estimates of SOurce term and Meteorology (AVESOME)
Author(s)	Jens Havskov Sørensen ¹ (co-ordinator) Fredrik Schönfeldt ² Robert Sigg ² Jan Pehrsson ³ Bent Lauritzen ⁴ Jerzy Bartnicki ⁵ Heiko Klein ⁵ Steen Cordt Hoe ⁶ Jonas Lindgren ⁷
Affiliation(s)	 ¹Research and Development Department, Danish Meteorological Institute (DMI) ²Swedish Defence Research Agency (FOI) ³PDC-ARGOS ⁴Center for Nuclear Technologies, Technical University of Denmark (DTU Nutech) ⁵Norwegian Meteorological Institute (MET Norway) ⁶Nuclear Division, Danish Emergency Management Agency (DEMA) ⁷Swedish Radiation Safety Authority (SSM)
ISBN	978-87-7893-509-0
Date	February 2019
Project	NKS-B / AVESOME
No. of pages	72
No. of tables	3
No. of illustrations	41
No. of references	48

Abstract In the early phase of a nuclear accident with possible off-site consequences, e.g. resulting from core melt and breach of containment, accurate prediction of the atmospheric dispersion of radionuclides is of utmost importance. However, two large sources of uncertainty exist: one associated with the meteorological data employed, and one related to the source term, i.e. the amounts of radionuclides released and the temporal evolution of the release.

In the former NKS-B projects MUD, FAUNA, and MESO, the implications of meteorological uncertainties for nuclear emergency preparedness and management were studied, and means for operational real-time assessment of the uncertainties in a nuclear DSS were developed and demonstrated.

In AVESOME, a methodology has been developed for quantitative estimation of the variability of atmospheric dispersion modelling resulting from both sources of uncertainty. With modern supercomputing facilities available e.g. at national meteorological services, the proposed methodology is well suited for real-time assessments and implementation in decision support systems.

The methodology adapts well to the RASTEP system, which provides a set of possible source terms and associated probabilities. In the near future, source terms derived within the EU project FASTNET will also become available, describing different release scenarios.

By employing automatic communication between the DSS and the HPC facility, the methodology developed is applied to selected release scenarios and meteorological situations. Results are presented by the improved graphical user interface adhering to recommendations of the NKS Workshop on the Use of Meteorological Uncertainty Estimates for Decision Making during a Nuclear Emergency in 2015. Based on a given request for dispersion calculation at the HPC facility, the DSS user will be able to either use the probabilistic presentation of all members of the source-term ensemble, or to use the individual source term members.

Key words nuclear emergency preparedness, atmospheric dispersion model, source term uncertainty, meteorological uncertainty, ensemble prediction